

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Ansala, Laura; Åslund, Olof; Sarvimäki, Matti

Working Paper Immigration history, entry jobs, and the labor market integration of immigrants

Working Paper, No. 2018:20

Provided in Cooperation with: IFAU - Institute for Evaluation of Labour Market and Education Policy, Uppsala

Suggested Citation: Ansala, Laura; Åslund, Olof; Sarvimäki, Matti (2018) : Immigration history, entry jobs, and the labor market integration of immigrants, Working Paper, No. 2018:20, Institute for Evaluation of Labour Market and Education Policy (IFAU), Uppsala

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/201458

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU

Immigration history, entry jobs, and the labor market integration of immigrants

Laura Ansala Olof Åslund Matti Sarvimäki



The Institute for Evaluation of Labour Market and Education Policy (IFAU) is a research institute under the Swedish Ministry of Employment, situated in Uppsala.

IFAU's objective is to promote, support and carry out scientific evaluations. The assignment includes: the effects of labour market and educational policies, studies of the functioning of the labour market and the labour market effects of social insurance policies. IFAU shall also disseminate its results so that they become accessible to different interested parties in Sweden and abroad.

Papers published in the Working Paper Series should, according to the IFAU policy, have been discussed at seminars held at IFAU and at least one other academic forum, and have been read by one external and one internal referee. They need not, however, have undergone the standard scrutiny for publication in a scientific journal. The purpose of the Working Paper Series is to provide a factual basis for public policy and the public policy discussion.

More information about IFAU and the institute's publications can be found on the website www.ifau.se

ISSN 1651-1166

Immigration history, entry jobs, and the labor market integration of immigrants^a

Laura Ansala

Olof Åslund

Matti Sarvimäki

November 26, 2018

Abstract

We examine how immigrants enter the labor market and whether their integration process varies by host country's immigration history. We focus on two countries—Finland and Sweden—that have similar formal institutions, but differ vastly in their past immigration experience. Nevertheless, in both countries, immigrants tend to find their first jobs in low-paying establishments where the manager and colleagues often share their ethnic background. Time to entry and entry job characteristics vary widely by region of origin. Furthermore, entry job characteristics predict earnings dynamics and job stability. The patterns and associations are remarkably similar in Finland and Sweden. These findings suggest strong regularities in labor market integration and ethnic segregation that are independent of immigration history and ethnic diversity.

^aWe thank Per-Anders Edin, Albrecht Glitz, Caroline Hall, Mika Kortelainen, Tuomas Pekkarinen and seminar participants at HECER and IFAU for helpful comments. The order of the authors is in accordance with the English alphabet and not related to contribution. Affiliations and e-mails: Ansala: Aalto University School of Business and Pellervo Economic Research, laura.ansala@aalto.fi; Åslund: IFAU, Uppsala University, IZA, and CReAM, olof.aslund@ifau.uu.se; Sarvimäki: Aalto University School of Business and VATT Institute for Economic Research, matti.sarvimaki@aalto.fi

Contents

1	Introduction	3
2	The Finnish and Swedish immigration experiences	6
3	Data	9
4	Transition to the first job	12
5	Entry jobs	15
	5.1 Predictors of entry job characteristics	18
	5.2 Persistence in workplace characteristics	22
6	Entry context, earnings and job stability	22
	6.1 Entry earnings	22
	6.2 Job stability	24
	6.3 Later outcomes	28
7	Conclusions	29

1 Introduction

Newly arrived immigrants often face ethnically segregated labor markets as they try to make their way in the host country. This tendency is epitomized by the historical Chinatowns and Little Italys, but less visible ethnic segregation and segmentation remains pervasive also in current labor markets. The presence of ethnic networks may help immigrants to find entry jobs, but may also lead to careers contained in these ethnically segmented parts of the host country's labor market. However, despite a large literature on economic assimilation, we know relatively little about the first steps into the labor market among foreign-born workers. It also remains an open question whether segregation—and its association with economic outcomes—reflects fundamental features of the functioning of labor markets, or if it is predominantly context specific and contingent on history.

This paper documents how immigrants enter the labor market in Finland and Sweden. The two countries provide an informative case study, because they share similar formal labor market institutions, but differ starkly in their immigration histories. In 1990, when our analysis begins, Sweden was already an established immigrant host country with almost a tenth of the population born abroad. By contrast, Finland had strongly restricted immigration and less than one percent of the population were immigrants. On the other hand, both countries have remarkable data infrastructures that give us access to rich population-wide linked employer-employee data and allow us to observe aspects of labor market integration that have not been examined in previous work.

Our key finding is that immigrants start their careers in a very similar manner in Finland and Sweden. In both countries, immigrants tend to enter the labor market through low-paying establishments where a large fraction of other workers are also immigrants. This sorting is particularly strong along finer ethnic lines. On average, 11% of coworkers share the entrant's region of origin in both host countries. For comparison, if immigrants had been randomly allocated into establishments, 0.3% of their colleagues in Finland and 0.5% in Sweden would have belonged to the same minority group as the immigrant herself. We also find comparable deviations from randomness for the likelihood of immigrants finding their first jobs in establishments where the manager is of the same origin as the entrant.

The entry job characteristics vary widely across immigrant groups. For example, immigrants from Turkey start working in establishments with 20–25 percentage points

more own-group colleagues, on average, compared to observationally identical immigrants from the other OECD countries in similar local labor markets. Region of origin predicts entry job characteristics very similarly in Finland and Sweden regardless of whether there are large differences in previous immigration from the region (e.g. former Yugoslavia) or not (e.g. Somalia). We also document an acceleration in the ethnic segregation of entry jobs starting with the cohorts arriving at the turn of the millenium. This trend is, again, very similar in both host countries and is thus likely to be driven by factors unrelated to the characteristics of the immigrant communities.

We end by examining the extent to which entry job characteristics predict earnings and job stability. Those starting their careers under an immigrant manager tend to have higher earnings than observationally identical immigrants starting in otherwise similar establishments that have native managers. The association is particularly strong when the manager and the immigrant are born in the same region. Over time, however, the predictive power of the first manager's background diminishes. We also document a strongly nonlinear association between colleagues' ethnicity and entrants' earnings. Those starting their careers as the only immigrant in an establishment earn substantially less than immigrants who have a moderate share of immigrant or own-group colleagues in their entry job. On the other hand, those working in establishments where most colleagues are immigrants also have lower entry earnings. These patterns remain, somewhat attenuated, when we measure earnings five years after entering the labor market.

Our findings contribute to two strands of the literature. First, they add to earlier work documenting extensive ethnic segregation across workplaces (Bayard et al., 1999; Aydemir and Skuterud, 2008; Hellerstein and Neumark, 2008; Åslund and Skans, 2010; Andersson et al., 2014; Glitz, 2014; Tomaskovic-Devey, Hällsten, and Avent-Holt, 2015). These descriptive studies typically find that working in immigrant or minority-dense workplaces is negatively associated with wages. However, this association is likely to reflect selection rather than causality. Indeed, studies using plausibly exogeneous variation or longitudinal data suggest that access to a resourceful ethnic community improves labor market outcomes (Munshi, 2003; Edin, Fredriksson, and Åslund, 2003; Colussi, 2015; Dustmann et al., 2016).¹ The value of ethnic communities is also supported by the finding that

¹Jackson (2010) provides an overview of the broader literature on the importance of social networks in the labor market. Recent examples include Cingano and Rosolia (2012), Kramarz and Skans (2014), Burks et al. (2015), Hensvik and Skans (2016), Brown, Setren, and Topa (2016), and Barr, Bojilov, and

managers are more likely to hire workers of their own ethnicity (Giuliano, Levine, and Leonard, 2009; Åslund, Hensvik, and Skans, 2014).

In comparison to earlier work on workplace segregation, our contribution is twofold. First, we focus on entry jobs, where the presence of earlier immigrants may be particularly influential. More importantly, we seem to be the first to present a cross-country comparison of ethnic segregation across workplaces using high-quality and fully comparable data. The countries studied can be seen to represent if not extremes in terms of immigration experience, so at least one matured and one fledgling example.² Empirical results will thus be relevant for a broad group of countries.

We emphasize that our work is purely descriptive and that immigrants choosing to move to Sweden may differ from those who are willing to become the "pioneers" in Finland. We also discuss evidence suggesting that the attitudes of natives differ between the two host countries. Thus, it would not be surprising to find that immigrants integrate into the Finnish labor market differently than into the Swedish one. Yet, our key finding is the *similarity* in the results across different contexts. As we discuss in more detail in the concluding section, this similarity is consistent with the hypothesis that ethnic segregation and segmentation are such fundamental features of the labor market that they emerge quickly even in a country with very limited immigration history.

Our results also inform the large literature on economic assimilation starting with Chiswick (1978) and Borjas (1985).³ This body of work typically aims to document how the immigrant-native wage or earnings gap evolves as immigrants spend more time in the host country. A limited number of studies have investigated the role of establishments in the assimilation process. Barth, Bratsberg, and Raaum (2012) find that 40% of the immigrant-native wage gap in Norway can be attributed to sorting across establishments and that immigrants do not increase their earnings by moving to higher-paying establishments (see also Eliasson, 2013). Our analysis provides new evidence on the transition into employment and the early stages of immigrants' careers, and thus enhances the

Munasinghe (2016).

²Even though Sweden is not one of the classical immigration countries, it is worth noting that comparing the findings of Hellerstein and Neumark (2008) and Åslund and Skans (2010) indicates that ethnic labor market segregation appears to be highly similar in Sweden and the US.

³Kerr and Kerr (2011), Borjas (2014) and Duleep (2015) provide overviews. Relatively recent work includes Card (2005), Lubotsky (2007) and Borjas (2015) for the US; Algan et al. (2010) for the UK, France and Germany; Izquierdo, Lacuesta, and Vegas (2009) for Spain; Sarvimäki (2011, 2017) for Finland; Bratsberg, Raaum, and Roed (2017) for Norway; and Åslund, Forslund, and Liljeberg (2017) for Sweden.

understanding of labor market assimilation.

The rest of this paper is structured as follows. In the next two sections, we present a brief overview of the Finnish and Swedish immigration experiences and describe our data sources. Section 4 examines transitions to the first job, Section 5 documents the characteristics of the entry jobs and Section 6 shows how entry job characteristics predict entry earnings and future job stability and earnings. We provide some concluding thoughts in Section 7.

2 The Finnish and Swedish immigration experiences

Finland and Sweden share a long history (current Finland was part of Sweden until 1809) and have very similar formal institutions and labor markets. Fundamental economic indicators are quite similar: GDP per capita is comparable, wage dispersion is low in international comparison, jobs with very low wages are absent, unionization is high and the overall welfare system is comparatively generous (see Skedinger (2016) and Böckerman, Skedinger, and Uusitalo (2018) for further discussion).

However, the countries differ dramatically in their post-WWII immigration experience. At the beginning of our observation period in 1990, Sweden was already an established immigrant host country with 9.2% of the population being foreign-born (Appendix Figure A1). Partly, this was a result of substantial labor migration in the 1950s and 1960s. In the 1970s, flows shifted to refugees, asylum seekers and their family members from different parts of the world: e.g. Chile in the 1970s and Iran in the 1980s.⁴ In later decades, Sweden has received the highest per-capita inflows of humanitarian migrants among the EU countries (Ruist, 2015). In terms of asylum seekers, this position was maintained through 2015 (Dustmann et al., 2017), before migration policies and regulations were rapidly altered.

By contrast, Finland strictly restricted immigration until the early 1990s. Statistics on Chilean migrants from the 1970s illustrate the difference in comparison to Sweden. Finland's modern immigration policy is typically attributed to start with the Chilean refugees allowed to settle in the country in 1973–1978 (Martikainen, Saukkonen, and Säävälä, 2013). However, the number of individuals was only 180 in total over this

 $^{^4\}mathrm{We}$ will use the terms asylum seekers and refugees interchangeably, which is common in the European context.

period. In comparison, Swedish statistics show that the number of Chilean citizens in the country increased from 212 to 7,225 between 1973 and 1980. By 1990, the figure was close to 20,000.⁵ As a result of the restrictive immigration policy, Finland's foreign-born population remained minuscule. In 1990, only 1.3% of the population was foreign-born and even among them, half were foreign-born children of Finnish emigrants.⁶ Around this time, however, the Finnish immigration policy started to change and, for the first time, a relatively large number of immigrants moved to Finland. Part of this immigration was specific to Finland, particularly the immigration from neighboring Russia and Estonia. However, Finland and Sweden also received immigrants of similar origin. In particular, many refugees escaping the civil wars of the former Yugoslavia and Somalia moved to both host countries. For Finland, the development is dramatic in a relative sense, with a more than tripling of the fraction of foreign-born residents over a 20-year period. Still, Finland remains a much less ethnically diverse country with the immigrant share of about one third of that observed in Sweden in 2010.

In addition to the differences in the number of immigrants, Finland and Sweden also differed in terms of native attitudes and the extent to which natives interact with immigrants. In the 2002 European Social Survey, for example, residents of Sweden had the most positive view on immigration among the 22 countries included in the study along all dimensions measured in the survey. In contrast, respondents in Finland were much more likely to support more restrictive immigration policy and to believe that immigrants take jobs from the natives. However, concerns about immigration posing a cultural threat were comparable in the two countries (Ervasti, 2004). In the same survey, 58% of respondents in Finland and 32% in Sweden reported to have no immigrant friends.

Panel A of Figure 1 presents another measure of immigrant-native interactions using data discussed in detail in the next section. It shows that in 1990, 22% of the Finns worked in an establishment that had at least one immigrant worker, while the corresponding figure for Sweden was 77%.⁷ By 2010, the share of Finnish workers having immigrant

 $^{{}^{5}}$ Sweden's larger population explains only a small part of the differences in absolute numbers. In the beginning of our study period, the populations of Finland and Sweden were 5.0 and 8.6 million, respectively.

⁶Among the foreign-born living in Finland in 1990, Statistics Finland categorizes 48% to have "Finnish background", defined as at least one of their parents having been born in Finland.

⁷These numbers are likely to overestimate the extent to which natives actually interacted with immigrants in the workplace due to large establishments with a small number of immigrants affecting these shares. In the 2002 European Social Survey, 62% of Swedish and 31% of Finnish employed respondents report to have at least one immigrant colleague. In comparison, the corresponding shares using our data



Figure 1: Exposure to foreign-born colleagues and managers, 1990-2010

Note: Panel A reports the share of native workers who work in establishments that employ at least one foreign-born person. The analysis is restricted to workers in establishments with at least three persons. Panel B reports the share workers working in an establishment where the manager is born abroad. We define managers as the individual in an establishment, who has the highest annual earnings.

colleagues had increased to 50%, while the share remained stable in Sweden.

Panel B of Figure 1 plots the share of all jobs located in establishments with a foreignborn manager (defined by highest earnings at the workplace; see Section 5), and thus gives an indication of the extent to which the foreign-born managers influence hiring decisions. According to this metric, 7.3% of employed Swedish workers had an immigrant manager in 1990. In Finland, the corresponding share was 0.3%. This may be an important difference for the recently arrived given that earlier research suggests that the origin of the managers is strongly associated with the sorting of new hires across establishments. For example, Åslund, Hensvik, and Skans (2014) show that ethnic similarity increases the probability of a match within a given establishment over time and across establishments within a firm. Thus, the presence of immigrant managers in the economy may affect the speed of transition into employment and the type of establishments through which immigrants enter the labor market.

Taken together, the differences between Finland and Sweden suggest that immigrants might adopt very different ways to cope in these labor markets. Another reason to expect different integration strategies is that there may be compositional differences between immigrants living in the two host countries. Immigrants to Finland, particularly those arriving in the 1990s, can be regarded as "pioneers" who decided to move to a country with few preceding immigrants. They are likely to differ in their unobservable characteristics from those choosing to go to Sweden. Thus, we stress that our analysis is strictly descriptive and we are not able to identify the extent to which possible differences in the integration process are due to differences in the Finnish and Swedish context or due to differences in immigrant compositions. As we discuss in detail below, however, our main finding is a similarity in the integration process, overall and in the details, in the two host countries.

3 Data

We use linked employer-employee data covering the entire working age population living in Finland and Sweden from the late 1980s onwards. Data for Finland come from The

are 78% and 38%. Of course, also the definition of "immigrant" may differ between the register and survey data. Nevertheless, both data sources suggest that Swedish workers were twice as likely to have at least one immigrant colleague in comparison to Finnish workers in 2002.

Finnish Longitudinal Employer-Employee Data (FLEED) augmented with detailed information on immigrant background. The Swedish data are drawn from population-wide registers combined in the IFAU database (Louise and RAMS), originally collected by Statistics Sweden. The baseline analysis includes immigrants who were 18–60 years old at arrival and who immigrated during the period 1990–2010. We follow them through year 2010 or the year they turn 60 years old, emigrate or die. To be included in the population registers, one has to receive a residence permit indicating a right/intention to stay in the host country for at least one year. The year of immigration does not necessarily correspond to the time of actual entry into the country (e.g. for asylum seekers).⁸ We use only the first observed spell of immigration for each individual in the observation period.

We define immigrants as foreign-born individuals. For Finland, we also require that they do not speak Finnish as their mother tongue and that they do not hold Finnish nationality at the time they enter the data. This stricter definition is motivated by substantial emigration from Finland (primarily to Sweden) in the 1960s and early 1970s, which means that many of the foreign-born individuals are children of Finnish emigrants (see footnote 6 above). Restricting the analysis to 18-60-year-old individuals who immigrated at age 18 or older allows us to focus on immigrants who have obtained their compulsory education outside of the host countries.

Table 1 reports average background characteristics for our final sample (see also Appendix Table A1 for variable definitions). The distribution of age at arrival is similar in Finland and Sweden, with immigrants on average being 31–32 years old at entry. Men and women constitute almost equal shares in both countries and the share of immigrants arriving without children is quite similar.⁹ The table also provides an indication of the very different demographic compositions immigrants encounter upon arrival; average ex-

⁸Waiting times have varied substantially depending on caseloads and political decisions. For most of the observation period, access to the formal labor market for refugees was dependent on a residence permit. Of course, it is possible that e.g. employer contacts are made earlier so that (similar to immigrants enjoying free mobility for short-term stays) immigration is actually registered after the first steps toward the Swedish labor market. For linguistic convenience we use "year of arrival" rather "year of residence permit".

⁹The category of singles and unmarried couples includes also some unmarried couples with no children in common, as our data for Sweden does not distinguish between them and unmarried couples without children. Some of the latter couples are categorized as singles, and some as single parents. Our data for Finland does make the distinction between unmarried couples having no oneildren and having no children in common, and shows the latter group to constitute only 3.1% of the category of singles and unmarried couples.

	At a	rival	At first job		
	Finland	Sweden	Finland	Sweden	
Share of women	48.3	49.4	44.7	46.8	
Age	31.6	31.4	32.9	32.2	
Arrival year	2002.2	2001.8	2000.8	1999.6	
Immigrant share in country	2.5	14.5	2.2	13.9	
Immigrant share in travel-to-work area	3.3	16.0	3.0	15.5	
Own-group share in country	0.3	0.7	0.3	0.6	
Own-group share in travel-to-work area	0.4	1.0	0.4	0.9	
Unemployment rate in travel-to-work area	16.6	12.0	16.6	11.6	
Years until first job			1.86	1.96	
Family status, shares					
single and unmarried	48.6	49.6	50.4	47.9	
married no kids	21.5	18.6	20.2	18.5	
partners w/ $1-2$ kids	22.3	20.4	22.4	22.4	
partners w/ $3+$ kids	3.5	5.5	2.9	5.2	
single parents	2.7	4.1	2.5	3.8	
adult living with parent	1.5	1.8	1.6	2.2	
Observations	155,116	742,012	86,807	367,471	

Table 1: Background characteristics at arrival and at entry to first job

Note: Background characteristics of immigrants at arrival and at their first jobs (defined as working in an establishment with at least three persons). Unemployment rate defined as fraction age 18–60 with zero earnings.

posure to other immigrants is much higher in Sweden. Further inspection of the data shows that while 96% of immigrants to Finland reside in an area with less than 7.5% foreign-born in the population, this is the case for less than a tenth of those arriving to Sweden. Roughly two fifths of immigrants to Finland originate from the Baltics or "Eastern Europe", mostly Russia (Appendix Table A2). For Sweden, no single category is as dominant, but a larger share of the immigrants to Sweden come from the Middle East and North Africa. As shown by Appendix Table A3, immigration is relatively evenly distributed over time, although more concentrated to later years in Finland.

4 Transition to the first job

Outcomes variables will be further discussed below and definitions are given in the appendix. We start our analysis by documenting the variation in the time immigrants take to find their first jobs and then examine which observable factors predict this variation. Figure 2 presents the share of immigrants who have ever held a job by years since immigration (defined as having been registered as employed at an establishment). It shows that a quarter of immigrants to Sweden and a third of immigrants to Finland had a job during their year of arrival. The fraction "ever employed" grows relatively fast, but finding a first job takes a considerable amount of time for many and roughly a tenth of (working-age) immigrants do not hold a single job during their first 15 years in the host country. Immigrants to Finland enter the labor market slightly faster than those in Sweden, but this crude indicator still suggests that the overall pattern is quite similar in both countries.

We next ask how time to the first job varies by observable characteristics using a simple duration analysis.¹⁰ Figure 3 presents estimates for two characteristics of particular interest: the country/region of origin and year of arrival fixed effects. Panel A reveals vast differences by origin. It also shows that groups that enter fast in Finland also do so in Sweden: those coming from Iran, Iraq and the African Horn (predominantly Somalia) took the longest to find their first jobs (conditional on other covariates), while those

¹⁰We estimate proportional-hazard models of the form: $h(t) = \lambda(t) \exp \{X\beta + \mu_c + \mu_a\}$, where t measures years from arrival to the start of the first job, $\lambda(t)$ is the baseline hazard, X is a vector of observable characteristics measured at the end of the year of arrival, μ_c is a vector of region of origin fixed-effects, and μ_a is a vector of year of arrival fixed-effects. The purpose is to describe associations between entry pace and individual and contextual variables in the two countries; the analysis does not attempt to handle e.g. differences due to unobserved heterogeneity.



Figure 2: Time to first registered establishment

Note: Share of immigrants who have ever been employed (defined as being registered to an establishment) by time spent in the host country after receipt of residence permit. The values are inverses of Kaplan-Meier estimates.

coming from other European countries tend to find employment relatively fast.¹¹ Finally, year of arrival fixed-effects reported in Panel B show that those arriving in later years tend to find a job faster than those arriving earlier, particularly in Finland.¹²

Appendix Table A4 reports the estimates for other background characteristics included in the analysis. It shows that while there are some differences, observable characteristics tend to predict the pace of labor market entry quite similarly in both host countries. It is important to note that there are no *a priori* reasons to expect the patterns to be so alike. If anything, one could expect the process of finding a job to differ significantly in an established immigration country like Sweden, where a larger number of firms are managed by immigrants (see section 2) and the native population is presumably more accustomed to working with immigrants. Furthermore, it seems reasonable to assume that individuals who choose to migrate into an established immigrant country

¹¹Some estimates may be affected by cross-border commutes to the source country; e.g. the relatively low entry pace among Danish migrants to Sweden.

¹²One could be concerned that the year of arrival estimates are influenced by the fact that later cohorts are by definition censored earlier. However, treating all cohorts as having an observation window of three years yields very similar time trends.

Figure 3: Entry into employment by region of origin and year of arrival. Fixed-effects estimates from proportional-hazards models.



Note: This figure plots hazard ratios for region of origin fixed-effects (panel A) and year of arrival fixed-effects (panel B) from proportional-hazard models of time until entry to first establishment. The regression also controls for other observed characteristics measured at arrival (reported in Table A4). Here, we report results from a specification excluding education; results including observed education are highly similar. We have used Finnish immigrants as the omitted category in Sweden and Swedish immigrants as the omitted category in Finland.

differ from those who are willing to become the "pioneers" elsewhere. Nevertheless, we find strong similarities in the process of finding a job in the two countries. In the next section, we show that the characteristics of these first jobs are also very similar in Finland and Sweden.

5 Entry jobs

We now turn to study the characteristics of entry jobs among immigrants. Table 2 shows that in the first full year after entering the labor market, average annual earnings are roughly 15,000 Euros (adjusted to year 2010 price level), which places them at roughly the 30th percentile of the earnings distribution of the working (positive earnings) population of the same age and gender. Relative to the overall population of similar age and gender, including zero earners, the rank is naturally somewhat higher. Coworkers, defined as other people working in the same establishment, also tend to earn relatively little: Immigrants' entry establishments, ranked according to average coworker earnings are at the 40th percentile of the establishment distribution in both countries. This average reflects a rather substantial concentration to low-earner workplaces: while close to half of the immigrant entry jobs are found in establishments with a rank lower than 0.3, less than one in five natives work in such establishments.¹³ Since their colleagues also tend to have relatively low earnings, immigrants enter at around the 40th percentile of the withinestablishment earnings distribution, on average. While this pattern of entry earnings may not be qualitatively surprising, it is somewhat remarkable that it is so similar in such different contexts in terms of host country immigration experience.

We next turn to examine the country of origin mix of coworkers and managers. Panel C of Table 2 shows that immigrants tend to enter the labor market through establishments where many of their coworkers are also immigrants. The pattern is particularly striking for Finland. While the average share of immigrant coworkers in entry jobs is as high as 21%, the expected exposure—if immigrant entrants had been randomly allocated into establishments—is only 2%. The ratio of the observed and expected immigrant share can be considered a measure of "overexposure". For Finland, immigrant overexposure is then

¹³In 1990–2010, 43 (49)% of immigrant entrants worked in an establishment with a rank less than 0.3 in Finland (Sweden). The corresponding share of all natives in the 2010 establishment distribution was 16 (18)%. For immigrants in general (not just entrants), the share was 31 (29)%.

Table 2:	Entry job characteristics	
	Finland	

	Fin	land	Sweden		
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
A: Own earnings					
Annual earnings (1000 euros)	15.298	18.092	15.597	20.295	
Annual earnings (rank)					
In working population	0.293	0.274	0.307	0.284	
In population	0.382	0.257	0.388	0.265	
Within-establishment earnings rank	0.376	0.262	0.395	0.272	
B: Establishment earnings					
Annual earnings (1000 euros)	20.042	15.469	18.394	11.566	
Annual earnings (rank)	0.431	0.296	0.382	0.280	
C: Coworker immigrant share					
Observed	0.211	0.292	0.354	0.302	
Expected, uncond.	0.021	0.010	0.111	0.013	
Expected, cond. on industry and LLM	0.035	0.030	0.148	0.073	
D: Manager immigrant share					
Observed	0.130	0.336	0.280	0.449	
Expected, uncond.	0.018	0.008	0.103	0.013	
Expected, cond. on industry and LLM	0.029	0.036	0.151	0.128	
E: Coworker same-origin share					
Observed	0.111	0.241	0.111	0.223	
Expected, uncond.	0.003	0.003	0.005	0.005	
Expected, cond. on industry and LLM	0.005	0.007	0.010	0.018	
F: Manager same-origin share					
Observed	0.077	0.267	0.092	0.290	
Expected, uncond.	0.002	0.002	0.005	0.004	
Expected, cond. on industry and LLM	0.004	0.008	0.010	0.022	
Observations	86,	807	367	,471	

Note: Means and standard deviations of characteristics of immigrants' first jobs in establishments with at least three persons. Panel B includes earnings also for managers at the establishment. Individual earnings ranks are constructed conditional on age and gender. See the Appendix for details of variable definitions. 0.211/0.021 = 10.0. Immigrants tend to enter also the Swedish labor market through establishments with an overpresence of immigrants, but given Sweden's substantially larger immigrant population, the observed share of immigrant coworkers (35%) deviates less from the benchmark of random allocation (11%) leading to an overexposure of 3.2.

These patterns in coworker immigrant shares are consistent with the hypothesis that ethnic segregation plays an important role in the labor market. On the other hand, they could also reflect differences in preferences, comparative advantages or residential patterns that would lead immigrants to concentrate in certain industries and/or locations. As we show in Appendix Table A5, first jobs are often found in service industries employing many low-skilled workers with a particularly large overrepresentation in hotels and restaurants. We examine the role of industry and local labor markets by presenting expected immigrant coworker shares conditional on these factors. These benchmarks are constructed by taking the joint industry-local labor market distribution of immigrants of each year as given and calculating the expected coworker characteristics if immigrants had been randomly allocated into establishments within these industry-location pairs in the year of their entry (see Åslund and Skans (2009, 2010) for further discussion). While the conditional expectations are somewhat higher than the unconditional expectations, the overexposure measures remain at 6.0 and 2.4 in Finland and Sweden, respectively.

The remainder of Table 2 provides further evidence on ethnic segregation in entry jobs. Panel D shows that excess exposure to immigrant coworkers also extends to "managers", defined as the person with the highest earnings in the establishment.¹⁴ The levels of manager immigrant share are in all cases somewhat lower than for coworker exposure, but the degree of overexposure is broadly similar as in the case of coworkers.

We also find extensive overexposure to "own-group" workers and managers, i.e. people from the same origin region as the individual herself. Despite each country group constituting a very small share of the overall workforce, immigrants in both Finland and Sweden enter the labor market through establishments where, on average, 11% of coworkers are from the same origin region (panel E). This gives rise to overexposure measures of 41.1 (Finland) and 21.8 (Sweden). The results are broadly similar for own-group managers (Panel F).

¹⁴Statistics based on occupational classifications produce lower fractions of immigrants in leading positions (Åslund, Hensvik, and Skans, 2014). However, our definition has the advantage of including establishments where no one is classified as having a manager occupation, and arguably captures at least people in influential positions.

Taken together, these patterns suggest that immigrant status and finer "ethnic" groupings matter in the labor market. As we discuss in the introduction, this conclusion is not new. However, a novel and intriguing insight from Table 2 is that ethnically segregated immigrant labor markets are so similar in Finland and Sweden despite the vast differences in their immigration histories. Even though the pre-existing stock of earlier arrivals is substantially smaller in Finland than in Sweden, immigrants start in establishments with similar levels of own-group immigrant shares. This finding suggests that, at least for some fraction of immigrants, ethnic segregation is very important—even in a country like Finland with very limited supply of established immigrants from the origin areas of the new arrivals.

On the other hand, it is important to note that most immigrants do *not* start in workplaces fully dominated by other immigrants. As a matter of fact, the fraction of entrants who encounter more than 90% immigrant coworkers at their first job is less than a tenth in both countries (see Appendix Figure A2). While these individuals contribute to the general overexposure, the bulk of it is driven by entry in workplaces with a modest to substantial overrepresentation of foreign employees. Similarly, the figure also shows that entry jobs are dispersed over a wide range of establishment types as measured by average coworker earnings, but again skewed toward the ones where earnings are lower.

5.1 Predictors of entry job characteristics

The average entry jobs characteristics discussed above mask significant heterogeneity across immigrant groups. We summarize this heterogeneity by regressing each entry job characteristic on individual background characteristics and time to the first job.¹⁵ Our primary focus is on region of origin and year of arrival, but we also control for demographics, time between arrival and entry, and conditions in the initial local labor market (immigrant and own-group shares and unemployment rate at the first local labor market where the immigrant resided in the host country). The latter control variables are included in order to reduce the risk of mechanical relationships between population composition and entry establishment characteristics (e.g. coworker immigrant share), and to take into account possible effects of the business cycle within a host country. ¹⁶

¹⁵Given the poor quality of education data for Finland, we only report results from specifications excluding education.

¹⁶Note, though, that we measure the local labor market characteristics at the time of immigration.

Figure 4: Predictors of coworker same-origin share at entry jobs. Estimates for country of origin and year of arrival fixed-effects.



Note: This figure plots region of origin fixed-effects (panel A) and year of arrival fixed-effects (panel B) from regressions using the share of coworkers from the same region of originat entry jobs as an outcome variable. The regression also controls for other observed characteristics measured at arrival (reported in Table A6).

Conditioning on these local labor market characteristics does not per se remove differences in population composition or unemployment rates between Finland and Sweden, since we estimate the regressions separately for both countries. In practice, estimating models excluding local labor market controls yields similar results.

Figure 4 reports the main estimates when using the share of own-group colleagues at the entry job as an outcome variable. The upper panel reveals large differences in the segregation of the labor market by region of origin. In a local labor market with the same presence of countrymen and conditional on other observable characteristics, immigrants from Turkey start their careers in establishments with, on average, 20–25 percentage points points higher share of own-group coworkers than immigrants from other OECD countries. We also find extensive segregation among some groups of Asian migrants.

Interestingly, the region of origin fixed-effects are, again, highly similar in Finland and Sweden. These patterns thus appear to be independent of origin-host country level immigration histories. Perhaps the most illustrative case in point are refugees fleeing the civil wars of Somalia and former Yugoslavia in the early 1990s. Those coming from Somalia had few previously arrived countrymen in either host country. In contrast, a large Yugoslavian community already existed in Sweden—due to labor migration starting in the late 1960s—but not in Finland.¹⁷ Yet, the share of own-group coworkers at the entry job was very similar for people from the African Horn and Bosnians in Finland and Sweden, and substantially larger in Finland for other groups from the former Yugoslavia. We interpret this pattern as suggesting that the pre-existing size of ethnic networks are unlikely to be the main drivers for differences in own-group exposure across source countries.

The lower panel of Figure 4 plots the year of arrival fixed-effects from the same regressions (showing time trends, not allowing for cross-country comparisons in levels). Conditional on other characteristics, there were little changes in initial own-group shares in entry jobs for immigrants arriving during the 1990s. However, for later cohorts, we find a steady and large increase in entry job own-group shares in both countries. These results suggest that both the Finnish and the Swedish labor market have recently become increasingly segregated for entrants, even after we condition on changes in observed individual and local labor market characteristics, as well as time to the first job. Explaining

¹⁷In 1990, there were 43,346 individuals born in Yugoslavia living in Sweden and 136 in Finland. The corresponding figures for Somalis were 1,411 in Sweden and 44 in Finland.

the reasons for this trend is beyond the scope of this paper, but we have performed some supplementary analyses showing that it is not driven by increased labor migration following the EU enlargement in the 2000s, or by changes in industry structure.¹⁸ While later observation years exhibit a trend toward entry in smaller establishments (where immigrant and own-group exposure is higher on average), this does not explain the overall time trend in coworker characteristics. Also, the similarity of the trends suggests that they are not due to Finland becoming a more "matured" immigration country over time. It can also be noted that the increase in ethnic segregation seen here appears to start later than the rise in skill-sorting previously documented in Sweden (Håkanson, Lindqvist, and Vlachos, 2015).

The estimates for the remaining observed characteristics are reported in the first columns of Appendix Table A6. We find that men are more likely than women to start working with own-group colleagues, but somewhat mixed estimates for age groups. In Finland, single and unmarried migrants enter in more immigrant dense establishments. As expected, those who immigrate to local labor markets with higher own-group population shares more often find work with people sharing their origin. Furthermore, immigrants who start working immediately upon arrival tend to have more own-group colleagues than other immigrants.

The appendix also reports results from identical analyses for other entry job characteristics. The findings are similar to those discussed above. Immigrants from regions of origin that tend to have a high share of own-group colleagues also tend to work in establishments with overall high immigrant shares and to be more likely to find jobs in establishments with an own-group or immigrant manager, while the order is roughly reversed for establishment earnings rank (Appendix Figure A3). We also document a similar increase in segregation of the labor market in terms of overall immigration share and the tendency to start working in an establishment with an own-group or immigrant manager (Appendix Figure A4). This trend also coincides with a decrease in entry job quality as measured by coworkers' earnings, suggesting increased segmentation in addition to the rise in segregation.

¹⁸We excluded throughout countries joining the EU in 2004 and retrieved similar time trends. Furthermore, controlling for industry does not change the results.

5.2 Persistence in workplace characteristics

The long-term significance of sorting across entry establishments depends on whether segregation is persistent or quickly passing. Appendix Table A7 examines this issue by regressing workplace characteristics measured five years after entry on the corresponding set of characteristics measured at entry. Of course, these specifications are conditional on employment five years after entry; we will examine job stability in detail below. We find strong persistence for all of the workplace characteristics we measure. However, we also see that there are many significant estimates across characteristics. Particularly, starting in an establishment with high-earning colleagues predicts lower fractions of immigrant/own-group colleagues and managers five years later (conditional on other entry job characteristics). On the other hand, those starting in establishments with many other immigrants from the same region of origin tend to work with lower earning coworkers five years later (conditional on initial establishment rank). Again, the associations are remarkably similar in the two host countries.

6 Entry context, earnings and job stability

The last step of our analysis is to examine how entry job characteristics predict earnings and job stability. In the light of a general trend toward greater firm wage differentials (Skans, Edin, and Holmlund, 2009; Barth et al., 2016), it is particluarly relevant to study how workplace sorting at entry relates to individual outcomes. We start with entry earnings and then examine earnings and employment during five years after finding the first job.

6.1 Entry earnings

Table 3 presents estimates from regressing immigrants' entry earnings on entry job characteristics. We report results from two specifications that differ from each other only in whether we condition for establishment earnings rank. All regressions control for the same individual and local labor market level observable characteristics as the specifications discussed in the previous section. We also control for establishment size. In order to capture the possible nonlinearities we divide continuous variables into indicator variables.

	Specification 1			Specification 2				
	Fin	land	Swe	eden	Fin	Finland		eden
	coef.	se.	coef.	se.	coef.	se.	coef.	se.
A: Coworkers born	in the s	ame orig	in region	(%)				
0	om	itted	om	itted	om	itted	om	itted
0 - 5	0.46	(0.19)	1.25	(0.10)	1.12	(0.18)	1.31	(0.09)
5-10	-1.15	(0.19)	-0.35	(0.11)	0.61	(0.18)	1.04	(0.11)
10-50	-0.92	(0.16)	-1.46	(0.09)	0.53	(0.15)	0.43	(0.08)
50-90	-3.01	(0.25)	-4.27	(0.14)	-1.16	(0.22)	-1.45	(0.13)
90-100	-1.47	(0.37)	-4.77	(0.21)	0.18	(0.34)	-1.70	(0.18)
B: Coworkers born in other foreign regions $(\%)$				%)				
0	omitted		om	itted	om	itted	om	itted
0 - 5	0.77	(0.20)	2.02	(0.18)	-0.06	(0.19)	0.11	(0.17)
5-10	-0.79	(0.21)	2.78	(0.15)	0.04	(0.20)	1.59	(0.15)
10-50	-2.08	(0.18)	-0.71	(0.11)	0.27	(0.17)	0.40	(0.10)
50-90	-3.07	(0.26)	-3.33	(0.12)	-0.57	(0.23)	0.13	(0.11)
90-100	-4.31	(0.51)	-3.58	(0.23)	-1.79	(0.45)	-0.11	(0.21)
C: Manager's origin	ı							
Native	om	itted	omi	omitted		itted	om	itted
Own imm. group	2.72	(0.30)	2.96	(0.17)	2.56	(0.27)	3.55	(0.16)
Other imm. group	1.27	(0.29)	1.90	(0.10)	1.32	(0.27)	2.41	(0.09)
E: Establishment ra	$nk \ (\%)$							
$<\!25$					om	omitted		itted
25 - 50					3.84	(0.09)	4.30	(0.05)
50 - 75					7.72	(0.12)	8.84	(0.07)
≥ 75					17.43	(0.21)	22.49	(0.15)
Obs.	86.	807	367	,471	86.	,807	367	,471
R^2	0	.14	0.	.17	0	0.24		.27

Table 3: Entry job characteristics and entry earnings

Note: Point estimates and robust standard errors (in parentheses) from regressing earnings on entry job characteristics. Each column comes from a separate regression that also controls for observed characteristics measured at arrival (gender, age, family status, LLM population composition and unemployment—see Table A4), establishment size (9 categories), and region of origin and year of arrival fixed-effects. The outcome is defined as annual earnings (in thousand 2010 euros) during the first full calendar year after first employment.

The association between entry earnings and the share of immigrant/own-group colleagues appears to be nonlinear. Immigrants who start their careers in establishments where all other workers are natives tend to earn less than those starting in establishments with a moderate share of immigrant coworkers. However, higher levels of immigrant and own-group coworker shares predict lower earnings. Even though there are differences in the peaks and slopes, a common pattern is that earnings decrease as the immigrant and own-group concentration becomes very high. As shown by specification 2, however, part of the association is due to the overall sorting of immigrants into lower paying establishments. Establishment rank strongly predicts individual earnings, and attenuates the association between entry earnings and origin composition.

Panel C of Table 3 reveals that immigrant entrants earn more in establishments managed by another immigrant than in those managed by a native, particularly if the manager is from the same country of origin as the entrant. Furthermore, in contrast to the case of immigrant and own-group coworkers, the associations are at least as strong when we condition on establishment earnings rank. The predictive power of manager origin is statistically and economically highly significant. For example, the estimates from specification 2 show that the entry earnings of immigrants in an establishment where the manager is from the same region of origin are roughly 2,600 and 3,600 euros higher in Finland and Sweden, respectively, in comparison to observationally identical immigrants working in otherwise comparable establishments and local labor markets.

Our results broadly conform with previous work suggesting that coworker segregation is negatively associated with individual outcomes (e.g. Catanzarite and Aguilera (2002), Åslund and Skans (2010) and Glitz (2014)). The findings are also in line with earlier work showing that immigrants working in establishments with an own-group manager have higher wages and lower separation rates than other workers in comparable workplaces (Åslund, Hensvik, and Skans, 2014).

6.2 Job stability

We next examine the association between entry context and later job stability using a similar regression approach as for entry earnings. We focus on the year of finding the first job and the following five years. Furthermore, we restrict the analysis to those who remain in the host country for this period. Let us first note that there are some

	empl	Length o oyment s	f the first spell (mor	t nths)	Num the fi	ber of est- irst six ye	ablishme ars after	entry	Mo first	nths emp t six years	loyed in s after er	the itry
	Finl	and	Swe	əden	Fin	land	Swe	eden	Fin	land	Swe	den
	coef.	se.	coef.	se.	coef.	se.	coef.	se.	coef.	se.	coef.	se.
A: Coworkers born in	the sam	<i>ie origin</i>	region $($	(%								
0	omit	tted	omi	itted	omi	itted	omi	itted	omi	tted	omi	tted
0-2	2.16	(0.27)	1.69	(0.14)	-0.12	(0.03)	-0.11	(0.01)	1.83	(0.28)	0.43	(0.13)
5-10	2.59	(0.38)	2.30	(0.17)	-0.22	(0.05)	-0.24	(0.02)	1.89	(0.40)	-0.10	(0.17)
10-50	1.21	(0.32)	1.49	(0.15)	-0.35	(0.04)	-0.23	(0.02)	-0.22	(0.35)	-1.15	(0.15)
50-90	1.06	(0.55)	0.26	(0.23)	-0.45	(0.06)	-0.26	(0.03)	-1.01	(0.60)	-2.34	(0.26)
90-100	2.31	(0.73)	1.76	(0.37)	-0.46	(0.08)	-0.37	(0.04)	0.90	(0.75)	-0.63	(0.38)
B: Coworkers born in	other fo	reign reg	ions (%)									
0	omit	tted	omi	itted	omi	itted	omi	itted	omi	tted	omi	tted
2^{-0}	-0.32	(0.29)	-0.59	(0.27)	0.12	(0.04)	-0.01	(0.03)	-0.20	(0.31)	-0.09	(0.24)
5-10	-0.24	(0.32)	-0.02	(0.22)	0.08	(0.04)	0.02	(0.02)	0.42	(0.35)	0.32	(0.20)
10-50	0.13	(0.29)	0.13	(0.18)	0.15	(0.04)	-0.01	(0.02)	0.97	(0.31)	-0.08	(0.17)
50-90	-0.59	(0.51)	-0.99	(0.21)	0.24	(0.08)	0.07	(0.02)	0.76	(0.60)	-0.99	(0.21)
90-100	-2.34	(0.87)	-0.07	(0.35)	-0.14	(0.13)	-0.08	(0.04)	-0.83	(1.14)	-1.14	(0.38)
C: Manager's origin												
Native	omit	tted	omi	itted	omi	itted	omi	itted	omi	tted	omi	tted
Same origin	2.64	(0.50)	2.43	(0.20)	-0.02	(0.06)	-0.05	(0.02)	1.79	(0.52)	2.19	(0.21)
Other foreign origin	-0.30	(0.43)	0.94	(0.12)	0.17	(0.06)	0.04	(0.01)	0.56	(0.49)	1.38	(0.12)
E: Establishment ran	_ %2											
< 25	omit	tted	omi	itted	omi	itted	omi	itted	omi	tted	omi	tted
25 - 50	5.08	(0.22)	4.47	(0.10)	-0.12	(0.03)	-0.19	(0.01)	6.22	(0.25)	4.02	(0.11)
50 - 75	8.71	(0.27)	9.17	(0.14)	-0.33	(0.03)	-0.52	(0.01)	10.02	(0.28)	6.36	(0.13)
≥ 75	13.31	(0.29)	13.70	(0.18)	-0.78	(0.03)	-1.00	(0.02)	14.17	(0.29)	8.16	(0.15)
Obs.	45,7	731	211	,924	45,	,731	211	,924	45,	731	211	924
R^2	0.1	10	0.	00	0.	.11	0.	07	0.	14	0.	6 C
Mean outcome	16	<u>.</u>	5.	1.2	က	.3	က	.2	38	3.3	47	.2
Note: Point estimates a	ad robust	standard	errors (in	parenthese	s) from re	egressing ou	utcomes d	uring the f	irst five ye	ears after e	entering th	te labor
market on entry job chare	acteristics.	Each colt	umn comes	from a sep	arate regr	ession that	also contr	ols for obse	rved chara	cteristics m	neasured a	arrival
(gender, age, family statı	ıs, LLM p	opulation	compositio	on and une	mploymen	t–see Table	e A4), est ϵ	ublishment s	size (9 cat	egories), an	id region o	of origin
and year of arrival fixed- ϵ	offects.											

Table 4: Entry job characteristics and job stability during five years after labor market entry

significant cross-country differences in the length of the first employment spell as well as in the number of months worked during the first six years. On average, initial spells last about five months longer in Sweden (21 vs. 16), and months worked differ by 9 (47 vs. 38). However, the average number of establishments during the first five years after labor market entry is in both countries 3.2.¹⁹

Table 4 reports estimates for three measures of job stability using a specification controlling for establishment earnings rank. Having zero own-group coworkers at the entry workplace is associated with approximately a 2 months shorter initial employment spell (and with less clear-cut differences across the non-zero categories). For other-group exposure, estimates tend to go in the opposite direction, but are much smaller and typically not significant. Furthermore, having a manager from the same region of origin predicts that the initial employment spell will last 2.5 months longer, which is arguably also an economically meaningful association.

The results for the number of establishments mirror those for the length of the entry jobs. Those who start in e.g. establishments dominated by people sharing their origin are predicted to work in 0.3–0.5 fewer establishments during this period compared to those who have no origin peers at their first job. The last columns of Table 4 examine months in employment (including, but not restricted to, entry jobs) during our 72 months followup period. In both countries immigrants who start with an own-group manager work for roughly two months more than those whose first managers were natives. There is a similar tendency for foreign-born managers of other descent, but less pronounced. The estimates for coworker origin are more mixed, but entry in very high exposure workplaces is linked to fewer months in employment.

Finally, higher establishment earnings rank at entry predicts substantially better outcomes for the entrants in a mid-term perspective. Starting out in a top quartile establishment (conditional on its size) e.g. means over one year longer initial employment spell in expectation, and about one less employer in the first six years. It is also worth noting that these associations are gradual across the distribution of establishment wages and in most cases very similar in the two host countries.

 $^{^{19}}$ As we here focus on associations within a given context, investigating the reasons for across-group differences has to be left for future work.

	Conditional on positive earnings				In	Including zero earnings			
	Fin	land	Sw	eden	Fin	Finland		eden	
	coef.	se.	coef.	se.	coef.	se.	coef.	se.	
A: Coworkers born in	the sar	ne origin	region (%	%)					
0	omi	itted	om	itted	om	itted	omi	itted	
0 - 5	0.99	(0.30)	0.94	(0.13)	0.77	(0.28)	0.73	(0.12)	
5-10	0.08	(0.33)	-0.09	(0.14)	0.28	(0.32)	-0.27	(0.13)	
10-50	0.02	(0.30)	-0.14	(0.13)	-0.33	(0.27)	-0.62	(0.12)	
50-90	-1.51	(0.54)	-1.34	(0.23)	-1.90	(0.47)	-1.70	(0.20)	
90-100	0.95	(0.88)	-2.42	(0.35)	-0.68	(0.62)	-2.17	(0.28)	
B: Coworkers born in other foreign regions (%)									
0	omitted		om	itted	om	itted	omi	itted	
0 - 5	0.36	(0.29)	1.03	(0.25)	0.55	(0.28)	1.21	(0.24)	
5-10	1.09	(0.34)	2.07	(0.21)	0.63	(0.31)	2.03	(0.19)	
10-50	0.23	(0.29)	0.20	(0.16)	0.15	(0.26)	0.07	(0.14)	
50-90	0.41	(0.51)	-0.41	(0.18)	0.45	(0.45)	-0.52	(0.17)	
90-100	-4.21	(0.92)	-1.38	(0.32)	-1.24	(1.69)	-1.58	(0.26)	
C: Manager's origin									
Natives	omi	itted	omitted		om	itted	omi	itted	
Same origin	1.34	(0.57)	0.89	(0.25)	1.21	(0.48)	1.05	(0.21)	
Other foreign origin	1.00	(0.49)	1.18	(0.12)	0.92	(0.44)	1.30	(0.11)	
E: Establishment rank	: (%)								
$<\!25$	omi	itted	om	itted	om	itted	omi	itted	
25 - 50	2.96	(0.18)	1.65	(0.08)	2.86	(0.16)	2.10	(0.07)	
50 - 75	6.80	(0.22)	5.09	(0.11)	6.26	(0.21)	5.41	(0.10)	
≥ 75	17.26	(0.33)	14.85	(0.21)	15.57	(0.33)	15.04	(0.21)	
Obs.	30.	071	146	5,791	45	,731	211	,924	
R^2	0.	26	0.	.22	0	.18	0.	0.18	

Table 5: Entry job characteristics and earnings five years after labor market entry

Note: Point estimates and robust standard errors (in parentheses) from regressing earnings five years after labor market entry on entry job characteristics. Each column comes from a separate regression that also controls for observed characteristics measured at arrival and region of origin and year of arrival fixed-effects. The outcome is defined as annual earnings (in thousands 2010 euros) in the fifth full calendar year after the immigrant finds her first job.

6.3 Later outcomes

Our final analysis concerns the association between entry context and outcomes five years after entering the labor market. We focus on earnings, but let us just briefly remind ourselves about the ways initial contexts relate to future ones (see discussion in section 5.2 and Appendix Table A7). As expected, there is persistence in coworker and manager composition, as well as in earnings ranks; starting out in a certain type of environment makes it more likely to be there also five years later. Initial coworker and manager exposure to some extent independently predicts the earnings levels among future coworkers, but estimates are scattered and the associations are moderate particularly in comparison with how segregation in one origin dimension predicts future segregation in another.

The first columns of Table 5 report the estimates for immigrants with positive earnings in their fifth year after starting to work. The nonlinear relationship between coworkers' background and earnings is not as clear here as in the entry year, but very high levels of immigrant/own-group coworker exposure is associated with lower earnings. Entering under immigrant management means somewhat higher earnings also after five years. The estimates for establishment rank are also very similar for entry and later earnings (and broadly in line with evidence from North America; see Ci and Hou (2017)).

Interpreting these results is complicated by the fact that we observe positive earnings five years after entry for only about 60% of the immigrants in our data. This attrition is due to 23% of the immigrants having emigrated or died, and 24% and 20% of those remaining in Finland and Sweden, respectively, not having any earnings five years after entering the labor market.²⁰ Furthermore (in line with the results on job stability), entry job characteristics predict the likelihood of employment: high initial own-group exposure predicts lower employment rates, whereas high-earning coworkers are linked to higher employment (Appendix Table A8).

In order to partly mitigate the issues of non-random attrition, the last columns of Table 5 report estimates for the full population of immigrants remaining in the host country five years after labor market entry. That is, we exclude those who emigrated from the sample, but include those who have zero earnings. The results are similar to

²⁰Emigration/death is defined from no longer being in the population register. Actual emigration rates (in the meaning of not living in the host country) may be higher and include individuals here classified as non-employed.

those from a sample conditioning on positive earnings.

7 Conclusions

This paper investigates the role of immigration history and ethnic diversity through for the early stages of immigrant labor market integration through detailed documentation of contexts and outcomes in Finland and Sweden. In our view, three patterns deserve particular attention. First, we find pervasive ethnic segregation in entry jobs. Immigrants tend to enter the labor market through establishments where other workers and managers are disproportionately often immigrants—particularly from the same region of origin as the immigrant herself. The extent of ethnic segregation strongly varies across immigrant groups. Furthermore, ethnic segregation in entry jobs increases rapidly among the more recently arrived immigrant cohorts.

Second, entry job characteristics strongly predict initial earnings and later labor market outcomes. Those starting their careers in an establishment with an own-group manager have higher initial earnings, longer initial employment spells and higher earnings five years after entry than observationally identical immigrant starting in an otherwise similar establishment with a native manager. The associations between coworkers' ethnicity and entrants' outcomes are highly nonlinear. Immigrants entering the labor market through establishments with a modest share of immigrants tend to have better outcomes than those starting with a very high share of foreign-born colleagues or those who are the only immigrant in their first establishment.

Our third, and arguably most intriguing, finding is that all patterns discussed above are highly similar in Finland and Sweden. This similarity stands in stark contrast with our priors. Based on the earlier literature illustrating the importance of ethnic networks and the fact that Sweden has a much longer and richer immigration history than Finland, we expected to see origin, segregation and segmentation playing a different role in labor market entry in the two countries. The similarity of the integration process is all the more striking given that immigrants choosing to move to Finland are likely to differ from those moving to Sweden in their unobservable characteristics. Moreover, while the difference in immigration history is arguably the most important difference between the Finnish and Swedish labor markets, the two countries are not otherwise identical. Despite all of these differences, immigrants enter the labor market through similar establishments, the same background characteristics predict time to entry and entry job characteristics in a very similar way, and the associations between entry job characteristics and later outcomes are broadly similar in both countries.

Our results are consistent with the hypothesis that the host country's immigration history has a limited role in shaping the integration process. This conclusion should not be confused with the process of entering the labor market being common to all immigrants. On the contrary, there is substantial heterogeneity across immigrant groups in terms of time to entry, type of entry jobs and future career progression. Rather, the regularity we document concerns the relative performance of different origin groups and the associations between characteristics of the first jobs and later outcomes. Of course, a descriptive study of two countries can only be suggestive about the mechanisms underlying the integration process. Given the considerable social and policy interest in the determinants of immigrant labor market outcomes, future research closely examining labor market entry of immigrants in different contexts would be highly valuable.

References

- Algan, Yann, Christian Dustmann, Albrecht Glitz, and Alan Manning. 2010. "The Economic Situation of First and Second-Generation Immigrants in France, Germany and the United Kingdom." *The Economic Journal* 120 (542).
- Andersson, Fredrik, Monica Garcia-Perez, John Haltiwanger, Kristin McCue, and Seth Sanders. 2014. "Workplace Concentration of Immigrants." *Demography* 51 (6):2281– 2306.
- Åslund, Olof, Anders Forslund, and Linus Liljeberg. 2017. "Labour Market Entry of Non-Labour Migrants–Swedish Evidence." Nordic Economic Policy Review :95–130.
- Aslund, Olof, Lena Hensvik, and Oskar Nordström Skans. 2014. "Seeking Similarity: How Immigrants and Natives Manage in the Labor Market." Journal of Labor Economics 32 (3):405–441.
- Åslund, Olof and Oskar Nordström Skans. 2009. "How to Measure Segregation Conditional on the Distribution of Covariates." *Journal of Population Economics* 22 (4):971– 981.
- 2010. "Will I see you at work? Ethnic Workplace Segregation in Sweden, 1985–2002." ILR Review 63 (3):471–493.
- Aydemir, Abdurrahman and Mikal Skuterud. 2008. "The immigrant wage differential within and across establishments." *ILR Review* 61 (3):334–352.
- Barr, Tavis, Raicho Bojilov, and Lalith Munasinghe. 2016. "Learning About the Employer-Employee Match When Workers Refer Job Candidates: Referrals and Search Efficiency." Working paper.
- Barth, Erling, Bernt Bratsberg, and Oddbjørn Raaum. 2012. "Immigrant wage profiles within and between establishments." *Labour Economics* 19 (4):541–556.
- Barth, Erling, Alex Bryson, James C Davis, and Richard Freeman. 2016. "It's where you work: Increases in the dispersion of earnings across establishments and individuals in the United States." *Journal of Labor Economics* 34 (S2):S67–S97.

- Bayard, Kimberly, Judith Hellerstein, David Neumark, and Kenneth Troske. 1999. "Why are Racial and Ethnic Wage Gaps Larger for Men than for Women? Exploring the Role of Segregation." NBER Working Paper No. 6997.
- Böckerman, Petri, Per Skedinger, and Roope Uusitalo. 2018. "Seniority rules, worker mobility and wages: Evidence from multi-country linked employer-employee data." *Labour Economics* 51:48–62.
- Borjas, George J. 1985. "Assimilation, Changes in Cohort Quality, and the Earnings of Immigrants." Journal of Labor Economics 3 (4):463–489.

———. 2014. Immigration economics. Harvard University Press.

- ———. 2015. "The Slowdown in the Economic Assimilation of Immigrants: Aging and Cohort Effects Revisited Again." *Journal of Human Capital* 9 (4):483–517.
- Bratsberg, Bernt, Oddbjorn Raaum, and Knut Roed. 2017. "Immigrant Labor Market Integration across Admission Classes." IZA Discussion Paper No. 10513.
- Brown, Meta, Elizabeth Setren, and Giorgio Topa. 2016. "Do Informal Referrals Lead to Better Matches? Evidence from a Firm's Employee Referral System." *Journal of Labor Economics* 34 (1):161–209.
- Burks, Stephen V, Bo Cowgill, Mitchell Hoffman, and Michael Housman. 2015. "The value of hiring through employee referrals." The Quarterly Journal of Economics 130 (2):805–839.
- Card, David. 2005. "Is the New Immigration Really So Bad?" The Economic Journal 115 (507).
- Catanzarite, Lisa and Michael Bernabe Aguilera. 2002. "Working with co-ethnics: Earnings penalties for Latino immigrants at Latino jobsites." *Social Problems* 49 (1):101– 127.
- Chiswick, B.R. 1978. "The Effect of Americanization on the Earnings of Foreign-born Men." Journal of Political Economy 86 (5):897–921.
- Ci, Wen and Feng Hou. 2017. "Immigrants' initial firm allocation and earnings growth." Canadian Studies in Population 44 (1-2):42–58.

- Cingano, Federico and Alfonso Rosolia. 2012. "People I Know: Job Search and Social Networks." Journal of Labor Economics 30 (2):291–332.
- Colussi, Tommaso. 2015. "Migrant Networks and Job Search Outcomes: Evidence from Displaced Workers." IZA Discussion Paper No. 9339.
- Duleep, Harriet Orcutt. 2015. "The adjustment of immigrants in the labor market." In Handbook of the Economics of International Migration, vol. 1. Elsevier, 105–182.
- Dustmann, Christian, Francesco Fasani, Tommaso Frattini, Luigi Minale, and Uta Schönberg. 2017. "On the Economics and Politics of Refugee Migration." *Economic policy* 32 (91):497–550.
- Dustmann, Christian, Albrecht Glitz, Uta Schönberg, and Herbert Brücker. 2016. "Referral-Based Job Search Networks." The Review of Economic Studies 83 (2):514– 546.
- Edin, P.A., P. Fredriksson, and O. Aslund. 2003. "Ethnic Enclaves and the Economic Success of Immigrants-Evidence from A Natural Experiment." Quarterly Journal of Economics 118 (1):329–357.
- Eliasson, Tove. 2013. "Decomposing immigrant wage assimilation: The role of workplaces and occupations." Tech. rep., Working Paper, IFAU-Institute for Evaluation of Labour Market and Education Policy.
- Ervasti, Heikki. 2004. "Attitudes towards Foreign-born Settlers: Finland in a Comparative Perspective." *Finnish Yearbook of Population Research* :25–44.
- Giuliano, Laura, David I Levine, and Jonathan Leonard. 2009. "Manager Race and the Race of New Hires." *Journal of Labor Economics* 27 (4):589–631.
- Glitz, Albrecht. 2014. "Ethnic Segregation in Germany." Labour Economics 29:28–40.
- Håkanson, Christina, Erik Lindqvist, and Jonas Vlachos. 2015. "Firms and skills: the evolution of worker sorting." Tech. rep., Working Paper, IFAU-Institute for Evaluation of Labour Market and Education Policy.

- Hellerstein, Judith K and David Neumark. 2008. "Workplace Segregation in the United States: Race, Ethnicity, and Skill." *The Review of Economics and Statistics* 90 (3):459– 477.
- Hensvik, Lena and Oskar Nordström Skans. 2016. "Social Networks, Employee Selection, and Labor Market Outcomes." *Journal of Labor Economics* 34 (4):825–867.
- Izquierdo, Mario, Aitor Lacuesta, and Raquel Vegas. 2009. "Assimilation of Immigrants in Spain: A Longitudinal Analysis." *Labour Economics* 16 (6):669–678.
- Jackson, Matthew O. 2010. Social and Economic Networks. Princeton university press.
- Kerr, Sari Pekkala and William R Kerr. 2011. "Economic Impacts of Immigration: A Survey." Finnish Economic Papers 24 (1):1–32.
- Kramarz, Francis and Oskar Nordström Skans. 2014. "When strong ties are strong: Networks and youth labour market entry." *Review of Economic Studies* 81 (3):1164– 1200.
- Lubotsky, Darren. 2007. "Chutes or Ladders? A Longitudinal Analysis of Immigrant Earnings." Journal of Political Economy 115 (5):820–867.
- Martikainen, Tuomas, Pasi Saukkonen, and Minna Säävälä. 2013. Muuttajat: Kansainvälinen Muuttoliike ja Suomalainen Yhteiskunta. Gaudeamus.
- Munshi, Kaivan. 2003. "Networks in the Modern Economy: Mexican Migrants in the US Labor Market." Quarterly Journal of Economics 118 (2):549–599.
- Ruist, Joakim. 2015. "The Fiscal Cost of Refugee Immigration: The Example of Sweden." Population and Development Review 41 (4):567–581.
- Sarvimäki, Matti. 2011. "Assimilation to a Welfare State: Labor Market Performance and Use of Social Benefits by Immigrants to Finland." The Scandinavian Journal of Economics 113 (3):665–688.
- ——. 2017. "Labor Market Integration of Refugees in Finland." Nordic Economic Policy Review 7 (1):91–114.

- Skans, Oskar Nordström, Per-Anders Edin, and Bertil Holmlund. 2009. "Wage dispersion between and within plants: Sweden 1985-2000." In *The structure of wages: An international comparison*. University of Chicago Press, 217–260.
- Skedinger, Per. 2016. "Labour Markets in Finland and Sweden: A Swedish Perspective." IFN Policy Paper 75.
- Tomaskovic-Devey, Donald, Martin Hällsten, and Dustin Avent-Holt. 2015. "Where do immigrants fare worse? Modeling workplace wage gap variation with longitudinal employer-employee data." *American Journal of Sociology* 120 (4):1095–1143.



Figure A1: Share of foreign-born population in Finland and Sweden, 1960–2016

Sources: Statistics Finland, Statistics Sweden.





Note: This histogram shows the share of immigrant coworkers (Panel A) and the establishment earnings decile (Panel B) of immigrants' entry jobs.



Figure A3: Region of origin fixed-effects and entry job characteristics

Note: This figure plots region of origin fixed-effects from separate regressions using the establishment rank (Panel A), coworker immigrant share (Panel B), same-origin manager (Panel C) and immigrant manager (Panel D) at entry jobs as outcome variable. The regressions also control for other observed characteristics measured at arrival, see Table A6.



Figure A4: Year of arrival fixed-effects and entry job characteristics

Note: This figure plots year of arrival fixed-effects from separate regressions using the establishment rank (Panel A), coworker immigrant share (Panel B), same-origin manager (Panel C) and immigrant manager (Panel D) at entry jobs as outcome variable. The regressions also control for other observed characteristics measured at arrival, see Table A6.

Variable	Definition
Entry job/first job	The first employment spell where a person is linked to an
	establishment for the first time after immigration. Observing a
	firm identifier for the establishment is also required. In the case of
	multiple spells starting in the same year and month, one of them
	is chosen randomly.
Time to entry	Difference between the year of entry to first job and the year of
	immigration.
Entry job characteristics	Characteristics of the establishment identified as the entry job.
Job/establishment	Establishment identifier corresponding to the first employment
	spell of a particular year.
Job/establishment	Characteristics of the establishment identified for that year.
characteristics	
Individual annual earnings	Sum of earned and entrepreneurial income in 1000 euros,
	CPI-adjusted to year 2010 level. Earnings are registered
	regardless of employer. In the case of the entry job, earnings are
	measured in the first full year after entering the job.
Individual earnings rank	The percentile of individual annual earnings in i) population of
	18–60-year-olds that year (including observations of zero
	earnings), and in ii) population of 18–60-year-olds who had an
	observed establishment that year (in the case of the entry job, in
	population who had an observed establishment in previous year).
	The ranks are constructed conditional on age and gender.
	Within-establishment earnings rank is relative to those working in
	the same establishment in the same year.
Establishment annual	Average of individual annual earnings of workers in the same
earnings	establishment, excluding the individual earnings of the person
	him-/herself, in 1000 euros, CPI-adjusted to year 2010 level.
Establishment earnings	The percentile of establishment annual earnings in the population
rank	of establishments that year.
Coworkers	Individuals other than the manager working in the same
	establishment as oneself that year.
Manager	The individual in the establishment observed to have the highest
	earnings that year. In the case of multiple observations of same
	earnings, one individual is chosen randomly.
Coworker immigrant	The share of foreign-born coworkers among all coworkers.
share/exposure	
Coworker	The share of coworkers born in the same foreign origin region as
same-origin/own-group	oneself.
share/exposure	
Coworker	The share of coworkers born in another foreign origin region than
other-foreign-origin share	oneself.
Immigrant manager	Foreign-born manager $(0/1)$.
Same-origin/own-group	Manager born in the same foreign origin region as oneself $(0/1)$.
manager	
Other-foreign-origin	Manager born in another foreign region than oneself $(0/1)$.
manager	
Unemployment rate	Fraction with zero earnings, age 18–60.
г у жоо	A5

		Finland	Sweden
Sweden/Finland		1.40	4.52
Denmark		0.34	1.99
Iceland/Norway		0.46	3.92
Bosnia		0.25	7.44
Yugoslavia	Croatia, Macedonia & Slovenia	3.75	8.15
Poland		1.51	5.65
Ireland/GB		2.54	2.73
Germany		2.16	3.29
Southern Europe	Greece, Italy, Malta, Monaco, Portugal, San Marino & Spain	2.38	2.29
Baltics	Estonia, Latvia & Lithuania	14.87	1.87
Eastern Europe	Albania, Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Bulgaria, Georgia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyztan, Moldavia, Romania, Russia (and form. Soviet Union), Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, Ukraine, Uzbekistan	29.38	6.54
Central E Europe	Slovakia, Czech Republic, Hungary	1.52	1.10
Central Europe	Andorra, Austria, Belgium, France, Lichtenstein,	2.57	2.58
••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	Luxemburg, the Netherlands & Switzerland		
USA/Canada		2.04	2.14
Central America	Antigua & Barbuda, Bahamas, Barbados,	0.79	1.24
	Belize, Costa Rica, Cuba, Dominica, Dominican		
	Republic, El Salvador, Grenada, Guatemala, Haiti,		
	Honduras, Jamaica, Mexico, Nicaragua, Panama,		
	St. Lucia, St. Vincent & Grenadines, St. Kitt & Nevis,		
	Trinidad & Tobago		
Chile		0.14	1.11
South America	Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Colombia, Ecuador,	1.27	2.94
	Guyana, Paraguay, Peru, Surinam, Uruguay & Venezuela		
African Horn	Djibouti, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Somalia & Sudan	3.12	3.91
North Africa	Algeria, Bahrain, Cyprus, Egypt, Gaza, Israel,	2.83	5.59
	Jordania, Kuwait, Lebanon, Libya, Morocco,		
	Palestine, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Syria, Tunisia,		
	Yemen & the United Arab Emirates	F 10	0.44
Sub-Saharan Africa	Angola, Benin, Botswana, Burkina Faso, Burundi, Cameroon, Cabo Verde, the Central African Republic,	5.12	3.44
	Comorros, Congo, Cote d'Ivoire, Democratic Republic		
	of the Congo, Equatorial Guinea, Gabon, Gambia, Ghana,		
	Guinea, Guinea-Bissau, Kenya, Lesotho, Liberia, Madagascar,		
	Malawi, Mali, Mauritania, Mauritius, Mozambique, Namibia,		
	Niger, Nigeria, Rwanda, Sansibar, Sao Tome & Principe,		
Iran	Senegal, Seychelles, Sierra Leone, Swaziland, South Africa,	1.55	3.46
Iraq	Tanzania, Tzad, Togo, Uganda, Zaire, Zambia & Zimbabwe	1.55	8.13
Turkey		2.31	2.63
East Asia	Hong Kong, Japan, China, the Democratic Republic of Korea, the Republic of Korea & Taiwan	5.03	2.76
South East Asia	Burma (Myanmar), Indonesia, Laos, Malaysia, the Philippines, Singapore Thailand & Vietnam	5.17	5.49
South Asia	Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Bhutan, Brunei, Cambodia, India,	5.42	4.25
	Maldives, Mongolia, Nepal, Oman, Pakistan & Sri Lanka		
Australia etc.	Australia, Fidzi, Kiribati, Micronesia, Nauru, New Zealand, Palau, Papua New Guinea, Solomon Islands, Tonga,	0.56	0.84
	Vanuatu & Western Samoa		
Observations		86,807	367,471

Table A2: Region of origin in sample of establishment entrants. Percentage points.

Note: Country of birth distribution of immigrants in first jobs in establishments with at least three persons.

	Finland	Sweden
1990	3.12	5.93
1991	6.37	4.97
1992	4.47	4.13
1993	4.65	6.5
1994	3.19	7.91
1995	3.12	3.39
1996	3.19	2.89
1997	3.46	3.66
1998	3.69	4.14
1999	3.59	3.71
2000	4.42	4.59
2001	5.31	4.75
2002	4.73	5.00
2003	4.41	4.95
2004	5.97	4.79
2005	6.29	5.24
2006	7.08	7.72
2007	8.60	7.07
2008	8.92	5.47
2009	5.43	3.19
Observations	86.807	367.471

Table A3: Arrival year

_

_

Note: Year of arrival distribution of immigrants in first jobs in establishments with at least three persons.

	Finland				Sweden			
	HR	se.	HR	se.	HR	se.	HR	se.
A: Woman	0.65	(0.00)	0.65	(0.00)	0.67	(0.00)	0.67	(0.00)
B: Age group								
18-24	om	itted	om	itted	om	itted	om	itted
25-34	1.16	(0.01)	1.15	(0.01)	1.12	(0.00)	1.10	(0.00)
35-44	1.06	(0.01)	1.06	(0.01)	0.95	(0.00)	0.94	(0.00)
45-54	0.88	(0.01)	0.88	(0.01)	0.62	(0.00)	0.62	(0.00)
55 and older	0.57	(0.01)	0.57	(0.01)	0.32	(0.01)	0.33	(0.01)
C: Family status								
single and unmarried	om	itted	om	itted	om	itted	om	itted
married no kids	0.74	(0.01)	0.74	(0.01)	1.01	(0.00)	0.99	(0.00)
partners w/ $1-2$ kids	0.68	(0.01)	0.68	(0.01)	0.91	(0.00)	0.89	(0.00)
partners w/ $3+$ kids	0.56	(0.01)	0.56	(0.01)	0.68	(0.00)	0.69	(0.00)
single parents	0.76	(0.01)	0.75	(0.01)	0.88	(0.01)	0.88	(0.01)
adult living with parent	0.67	(0.02)	0.67	(0.02)	0.89	(0.01)	0.92	(0.01)
D: Immigrant share (%)								
0-2.5	om	itted	om	itted	om	itted	om	itted
2.5-5	0.94	(0.01)	0.94	(0.01)	1.15	(0.17)	1.16	(0.19)
5-7.5	0.98	(0.01)	0.98	(0.01)	1.09	(0.16)	1.09	(0.18)
7.5-10	1.06	(0.02)	1.07	(0.02)	1.04	(0.16)	1.04	(0.17)
10-12.5					1.00	(0.15)	1.00	(0.16)
12.5-15					1.01	(0.15)	1.01	(0.16)
15-					1.12	(0.17)	1.12	(0.18)
E: Same-origin share (%)								
0-0.25	om	itted	om	itted	om	itted	om	itted
0.25-0.5	1.02	(0.01)	1.02	(0.01)	0.95	(0.00)	0.96	(0.00)
0.5-0.75	1.02	(0.01)	1.02	(0.01)	0.96	(0.01)	0.97	(0.01)
0.75-1	1.01	(0.01)	1.01	(0.01)	0.95	(0.01)	0.97	(0.01)
1-	1.00	(0.01)	1.00	(0.01)	0.90	(0.01)	0.92	(0.01)
F: Unemployment rate	0.98	(0.00)	0.98	(0.00)	0.92	(0.00)	0.92	(0.00)
G: Education								
less than upper secondary			om	itted			om	itted
upper secondary			1.02	(0.01)			1.38	(0.01)
tertiary			1.08	(0.01)			1.35	(0.00)
Observations	155	5,116	155	5,116	742	2,012	742	2,012

Table A4: Predictors of time to first employment

Note: Hazard ratio estimates from proportional-hazards regressions of time until entry to first job on observed background characteristics measured at arrival. Specifications also include fixed effects for region of origin and year of arrival; estimates (from regressions not controlling for education) reported in Figure 3.

	At fir	st job	All im:	migrants	Nat	ives	Ever	yone
	FΙ	SE	FI	SE	FI	SE	FI	SE
A: Industry								
Agriculture, forestry, hunting and fishing	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.01	0.03	0.01	0.02	0.01
Mining and quarrying	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Manufacturing	0.15	0.14	0.17	0.19	0.20	0.18	0.20	0.19
Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01
Construction	0.06	0.03	0.05	0.03	0.06	0.06	0.06	0.05
Wholesale and retail trade	0.08	0.08	0.10	0.09	0.13	0.14	0.12	0.12
Hotels and restaurants	0.08	0.14	0.10	0.11	0.03	0.04	0.04	0.06
Transport, storage and communication	0.08	0.05	0.09	0.06	0.08	0.07	0.08	0.07
Financial intermediation	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.02
Real estate, renting and business activities	0.26	0.23	0.19	0.18	0.11	0.11	0.12	0.13
Public administration and defence	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.03	0.06	0.06	0.06	0.05
Education	0.10	0.09	0.10	0.10	0.07	0.09	0.07	0.09
Health and social work	0.10	0.14	0.10	0.17	0.15	0.18	0.15	0.17
Other services, international organizations	0.04	0.04	0.05	0.04	0.05	0.05	0.04	0.05
B: Plant size								
Mean	291	337	326	420	239	392	249	400
Standard deviation	669	975	744	1189	573	1102	596	1128
1st decile	9	9	9	2	4	2	9	2
Median	46	57	49	69	49	56	49	59
9th decile	736	637	875	800	570	850	595	835
Note: Industry distribution and plant size for immigrants in	first jol	os, all im	migrants,	all natives, a	ind the f	ull workir	ig popula	tion in
establishments with at least three persons.								

Table A5: Industry distribution and plant size

A9

	Сс	worker san	ne-origin sl	nare	С	oworker im	r immigrant share	
	Fin	land	Sw	eden	Fin	land	Sw	eden
	coef.	se.	coef.	se.	coef.	se.	coef.	se.
A: Woman	-0.045	(0.002)	-0.030	(0.001)	-0.041	(0.002)	-0.019	(0.001)
B: Age group								
18-24	om	itted	om	itted	om	itted	om	itted
25-34	0.009	(0.002)	-0.005	(0.001)	0.000	(0.002)	-0.015	(0.001)
35-44	0.021	(0.002)	0.000	(0.001)	0.009	(0.003)	-0.012	(0.001)
45-54	0.016	(0.003)	0.011	(0.002)	0.005	(0.004)	0.002	(0.002)
55 and older	0.002	(0.008)	0.027	(0.005)	0.004	(0.010)	0.014	(0.006)
C: Family status								
single and unmarried	om	itted	om	itted	om	itted	om	itted
married no kids	-0.031	(0.002)	0.000	(0.001)	-0.040	(0.003)	0.002	(0.001)
partners w/ $1-2$ kids	-0.029	(0.002)	0.000	(0.001)	-0.037	(0.002)	-0.007	(0.001)
partners w/ $3+$ kids	-0.032	(0.004)	0.000	(0.002)	-0.037	(0.005)	-0.003	(0.002)
single parents	-0.024	(0.004)	0.004	(0.002)	-0.033	(0.005)	0.009	(0.002)
adult living with parent	-0.021	(0.005)	-0.011	(0.002)	-0.027	(0.007)	-0.023	(0.003)
D: Immigrant share (%)								
0-2.5	om	itted	om	itted	om	itted	om	itted
2.5-5	0.001	(0.003)	0.024	(0.026)	0.033	(0.003)	0.062	(0.043)
5-7.5	0.003	(0.004)	0.022	(0.026)	0.073	(0.004)	0.068	(0.043)
7.5-10	-0.017	(0.037)	0.015	(0.026)	0.139	(0.043)	0.069	(0.043)
10-12.5			0.014	(0.026)			0.082	(0.043)
12.5-15			0.010	(0.026)			0.100	(0.043)
15-			0.032	(0.026)			0.181	(0.043)
E: Same-origin share (%)	1							
0-0.25	om	itted	om	itted	om	itted	om	itted
2.5-5	0.04	(0.003)	0.015	(0.001)	0.034	(0.003)	0.025	(0.002)
0.5 - 0.75	0.065	(0.004)	0.044	(0.001)	0.058	(0.004)	0.064	(0.002)
0.75 - 1	0.099	(0.004)	0.063	(0.001)	0.086	(0.005)	0.089	(0.002)
1-	0.097	(0.004)	0.083	(0.001)	0.096	(0.005)	0.095	(0.002)
F: Unemployment rate	0.000	(0.000)	0.001	(0.000)	-0.003	(0.000)	-0.003	(0.000)
G: Time to first job								
0 years	om	itted	om	itted	om	itted	om	itted
1-2 years	-0.028	(0.002)	-0.028	(0.001)	-0.026	(0.002)	-0.028	(0.001)
3-5 years	-0.025	(0.002)	-0.039	(0.001)	-0.022	(0.003)	-0.046	(0.002)
6-9 years	-0.001	(0.003)	-0.031	(0.001)	0.011	(0.004)	-0.026	(0.002)
10 years or more	0.034	(0.005)	-0.018	(0.002)	0.066	(0.006)	0.010	(0.003)
Obs.	86	,807	367	7,471	86	,807	367	,471
R^2	0	.12	0	.12	0	.17	0	.18
Mean outcome	0	.11	0	.11	0	.21	0	.35

	Table A6:	Predictors	of entry	job	charact	teristics
--	-----------	------------	----------	-----	---------	-----------

Note: Point estimates and robust standard errors (in parentheses) from regressing entry job characteristics on observed background characteristics measured at arrival. All regressions also control for region of origin and year of arrival fixed-effects, reported in Figures 4, A3 and A4.

	Estab	lishment ra	nk		-	Same-origin	ı manageı	٤.		Immigrant	manager	
	$\operatorname{Finland}$	9 1	Sweder	ı	Finl	and	Swe	eden	Finl	land	S_{WG}	den
	coef. se.	coef		se.	coef.	se.	coef.	se.	coef.	se.	coef.	se.
A: Woman	-0.056 (0.002	() -0.04	[3 (0.	.001)	-0.033	(0.002)	-0.025	(0.001)	-0.039	(0.002)	-0.017	(0.002)
B: Age group 18-24	omitted		mittec		timo	tted	imo	tted	imo	tted	imo	tted
25-34	0.063 (0.002	() 0.06	2 (0.	001)	0.005	(0.002)	-0.006	(0.001)	0.005	(0.003)	-0.016	(0.002)
35-44	0.044 (0.005	() 0.06	8 (0,	(001)	0.016	(0.003)	0.004	(0.002)	0.012	(0.004)	-0.009	(0.002)
45-54	0.013 (0.004	į) 0.04	6 (0.	(002)	0.003	(0.004)	0.018	(0.002)	-0.003	(0.005)	0.002	(0.003)
55 and older	0.022 (0.000	(0.02)	5 (0.	(900	0.011	(0.010)	0.039	(0.007)	0.013	(0.012)	0.020	(0.010)
C: Family status											·	
single and unmarried	omitted		omittec	, J	omit	tted	omi	itted	omi	tted	omi	tted
married no kids	-0.006 (0.005	3) -0.00)2 (0)	(100)	-0.019	(0.002)	0.008	(100.0)	-0.024	(0.003)	0.009	(0.002)
partners w/ $1-2$ kids	0.002 (0.005	3) 0.00	7 (0.	(001)	-0.014	(0.002)	0.005	(0.001)	-0.019	(0.003)	0.001	(0.002)
partners w/ $3+$ kids	-0.041 (0.000	i) -0.01	15 (0.	(002)	-0.019	(0.005)	-0.004	(0.002)	-0.032	(0.007)	-0.016	(0.003)
single parents adult living with parent	-0.015 (0.00 -0.036 (0.007	(0.03) - 0.03	54 (0. (0.	.002) .003)	-0.018 -0.019	(0.006)	0.008 -0.008	(0.003)	-0.028 -0.026	(0.008)	0.016 - 0.019	(0.004) (0.005)
D. Immiannt share (%)												
0-2.5	omitted	0	omittec		omit	tted	omi	itted	omi	tted	omi	tted
2.5-5	0.030 (0.005	3) 0.03	0 (0.	.044)	0.013	(0.003)	0.008	(0.035)	0.025	(0.004)	-0.004	(0.072)
5-7.5	0.070 (0.004	(1) 0.05	4 (0.	(044)	0.015	(0.004)	0.006	(0.035)	0.027	(0.005)	-0.002	(0.071)
7.5-10	-0.052 (0.024	(t) 0.06	7 (0.	.044)	-0.005	(0.050)	0.001	(0.035)	-0.01	(0.058)	-0.001	(0.071)
10-12.5		0.06	7 (0.	.044)			-0.005	(0.035)			-0.008	(0.071)
12.5-15		0.06	9 (0.	.044)			0.003	(0.035)			0.011	(0.071)
15-		0.10	2 (0.	.044)			0.023	(0.035)			0.094	(0.071)
E: Same-origin share $(\%)$												
0-0.25	omitted	0	omittec		omi	tted	omi	itted	omi	tted	omi	tted
2.5-5	0.001 (0.005) -0.00	0.	.002)	0.025	(0.003)	0.011	(0.001)	0.023	(0.004)	0.014	(0.002)
0.5 - 0.75	-0.021 (0.005	5) -0.02	32 (0.	.002)	0.047	(0.004)	0.034	(0.002)	0.046	(0.005)	0.043	(0.003)
0.75-1	-0.027 (0.005		13 0 0	(002)	0.042	(0.005)	0.037	(0.002)	0.044	(0.006)	0.067	(0.003)
I-	-0.028 (0.00	en.u- (o	.U) 20	(200.	0.044	(enn.n)	0.U.0	(0.002)	0.003	(0.00)	170.0	(0.003)
F: Unemployment rate	-0.005 (0.000	(0.01)	0 (0.	(000)	0.000	(0.000)	0.002	(0.00)	-0.002	(0.00)	-0.002	(0.000)
$G: \ Time \ to \ first \ job$												
0 years	omitted	0	omittec		omi	tted	omi	itted	omi	tted	omi	tted
1-2 years	-0.029 (0.005	3) -0.02	80 0.0000000000000000000000000000000000	(001)	-0.020	(0.002)	-0.033	(0.001)	-0.019	(0.003)	-0.044	(0.002)
3-5 years	-0.033 (0.00:	3) -0.04	f6 (0.	(002)	-0.019	(0.003)	-0.043	(0.001)	-0.013	(0.003)	-0.063	(0.002)
6-9 years	-0.072 (0.004	() -0.02	36 0.0	(002)	0.000	(0.003)	-0.033	(0.002)	0.010	(0.004)	-0.046	(0.003)
IN YEALS OF HIDLE	moni cenn-	(r		(enn-	0.029	(000.0)	CTU-	(enn-n)	0.00	(onn·n)	-0.00	(000.0)
$Obs.$ R^2	86,807 0.13		367,471 0.15	_	86. ² 0.(807 07	367 0.	,471 06	86, 0.	807 06	367 0.	,471 07
Mean outcome	0.43		0.38		0.(08	0.	60	0	13	0.	28

	Establi ra	shment nk	Cowe same-ori	orker gin share	Cow immigra	orker nt share	Same- mana	origin ager	Immi man	grant ager
	Finland	Sweden	Finland	Sweden	Finland	Sweden	Finland	Sweden	Finland	Sweden
Establishment rank	0.45 (0.01)	0.37 (0.00)	-0.03 (0.00)	-0.02 (0.00)	-0.05 (0.00)	-0.05 (0.00)	-0.01 (0.00)	-0.01 (0.00)	-0.03 (0.01)	-0.04 (0.00)
Coworker same-origin share	-0.03 (0.01)	-0.03 (0.00)	0.32 (0.01)	0.27 (0.01)	0.35 (0.01)	0.33 (0.01)	0.24 (0.02)	0.21 (0.01)	0.27 (0.02)	0.24 (0.01)
Coworker other-foreign-origin share	0.02 (0.01)	(0.00)	0.03 (0.01)	0.03 (0.00)	0.28 (0.01)	0.30 (0.00)	-0.01 (0.01)	0.01 (0.00)	0.10 (0.02)	$0.16 \\ (0.01)$
Same-origin manager	-0.01 (0.01)	-0.01 (0.00)	0.06 (0.01)	0.05 (0.00)	0.06 (0.01)	0.06 (0.00)	0.14 (0.01)	0.14 (0.01)	0.13 (0.02)	0.15 (0.01)
Other-foreign-origin manager	-0.00 (0.01)	-0.00 (0.00)	-0.00 (0.01)	(0.00)	0.02 (0.01)	0.02 (0.00)	0.01 (0.01)	0.01 (0.00)	0.07 (0.01)	0.09 (0.00)
Obs. R ² Mean outcome	$30071 \\ 0.34 \\ 0.54$	$\begin{array}{c} 146791 \\ 0.29 \\ 0.53 \end{array}$	$30071 \\ 0.23 \\ 0.07 $	$146791 \\ 0.21 \\ 0.07$	$30071 \\ 0.24 \\ 0.15$	$146791 \\ 0.28 \\ 0.29$	$30071 \\ 0.15 \\ 0.05$	$\begin{array}{c} 146791 \\ 0.11 \\ 0.05 \end{array}$	$30071 \\ 0.11 \\ 0.09$	$\frac{146791}{0.09}$ 0.22
Note: Point estimates and robu column comes from a separate 1 fixed-effects.	ist standard regression th	errors (in pa at also contro	trentheses) from the observe	om regressing ed backgroun	ç job charactı d characteris	eristics five ye tics measured	ears after ent at arrival, a	ry on entry j nd region of e	job characteri origin and ye	stics. Each ar of arrival

Table A7: Job characteristics five years after labor market entry

		Emplo	oyment		
	Fin	land	Swe	eden	
	coef.	se.	coef.	se.	
A: Coworkers born in	the same	me origin	region (Sweden coef. se. region (%) omitted -0.01 (0.00) -0.02 (0.00) -0.02 (0.00) -0.04 (0.01) -0.06 (0.01) -0.04 (0.01) ons (%) omitted 0.01 (0.01) 0.01 (0.00) -0.02 (0.00) -0.02 (0.00) -0.03 (0.01) omitted 0.01 (0.00) 0.01 (0.00) omitted 0.01 (0.00) 0.01 (0.00) 0.01 (0.00)	
0	om	itted	om	itted	
0 - 5	0.00	(0.01)	-0.01	(0.00)	
5-10	-0.00	(0.01)	-0.02	(0.00)	
10-50	-0.03	(0.01)	-0.04	(0.00)	
50-90	-0.03	(0.01)	-0.06	(0.01)	
90-100	-0.02	(0.02)	-0.04	(0.01)	
B: Coworkers born in	other j	foreign re	gions (%)	
0	om	itted	om	itted	
0 - 5	0.00	(0.01)	0.01	(0.01)	
5-10	-0.01	(0.01)	0.01	(0.00)	
10-50	0.01	(0.01)	-0.01	(0.00)	
50-90	0.01	(0.01)	-0.02	(0.00)	
90-100	-0.00	(0.03)	-0.03	(0.01)	
C: Manager's origin					
Native	omitted		om	itted	
Same origin	0.01	(0.01)	0.01	(0.00)	
Other foreign origin	0.00	(0.01)	0.01	(0.00)	
E: Establishment earr	nings ra	$nk \ (\%)$			
$<\!25$	om	itted	om	$\begin{array}{c} \text{omitted} \\ 0.01 & (0.01) \\ 0.01 & (0.00) \\ -0.01 & (0.00) \\ -0.02 & (0.00) \\ -0.03 & (0.01) \\ \end{array}$ $\begin{array}{c} \text{omitted} \\ 0.01 & (0.00) \\ 0.01 & (0.00) \\ 0.04 & (0.00) \\ 0.06 & (0.00) \\ 0.08 & (0.00) \end{array}$	
25 - 50	0.06	(0.01)	0.04	(0.00)	
50 - 75	0.08	(0.01)	0.06	(0.00)	
\geq 75	0.10	(0.01)	0.08	(0.00)	
Obs.	45	,731	211	,924	
R^2	0	.03	0.	.04	

Table A8: Employment five years after entering the labor market

Note: Point estimates and robust standard errors (in parentheses) from regressing employment five years after labor market entry, defined as having positive earnings, on entry job characteristics. The regression also controls for observed background characteristics measured at arrival, and region of origin and year of arrival fixed-effects.